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August 6, 2012
Thomas E. Perez, Asst. Attorney General

US Department of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 
Civil Rights Division
Criminal Section – PHB
Washington, DC 20530

Re:  Criminal Complaint against SPD Officer Alan Edwards for Official Misconduct (18 U.S.C. § 241, 18 U.S.C. § 242)*

Dear Mr. Perez:

Please find attached a formal criminal complaint alleging official misconduct and deprivation of rights under color of law (18 U.S.C. § 241, 18 U.S.C. § 242) by Spokane Police Department (SPD) Officer Alan Edwards. 
The Edwards case is symptomatic of serious cultural and behavioral problems that are prevalent within the SPD.  It is also evidence of the unwillingness of the City, local law enforcement and Spokane County Prosecutor’s Office to recognize and address serious police misconduct and abuse.  This lack of action has fostered flagrant abuses of police power, resulting in the SPD losing the trust and confidence of the citizens it is supposed to serve. 

I have summarized my analysis in the following sections:  I. Introduction; II. Background Information; III. Alleged Violations of 18 USC 241 and 242; IV. Investigative Strategies and Questions; and V. Requested Action.

I. INTRODUCTION:

The Officer Edwards case goes hand in hand with the SPD Ofc. Karl Thompson case that your office successfully prosecuted for violating the civil rights of Otto Zehm.  Both are illustrative of the local pattern and practice of covering up of serious police misconduct and abuse cases by law enforcement officials, the County Prosecutor and elected and appointed government officials.  Such behavior is allowed to go on because there is never a real search for the truth. I believe there is strong probable cause to believe that Ofc. Edwards with others violated the civil rights of Connie Shirkey by unlawfully entering her residence without a search warrant on 11-19-09. – A violation of the 4th Amendment of the US Constitution.

I commend the US Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division for intervening in the Ofc. Thompson case.  With the prevailing cultural and behavior of local law enforcement, the Spokane County Prosecutor’s Office and the political environment, justice would not be served.  

In DOJ’s own words in the Thompson case there was, “ . . . an extensive cover-up” and “. . . violent abuse of power” (US DOJ Press Release 11-02-11).  In the Nixon Watergate scandal it was the system that allowed the cover-up.  The system failure was far worse than the original incident. 
I welcome a DOJ Pattern and Practice investigation of SPD however the systemic local political corruption must be understood before a successful intervention can occur.  See the reporting by award winning investigative reporter Larry Shook. The local problematic officer involved shootings and death cases (OIS and OID) like Otto Zehm, Quinton Dodd, Scott Creach (civil suit CRV 2:11-CV-00432-RMP) as well as other cases of alleged abuse such as John Hudson (civil suit CRV 2:11-CV-00137-TOR) would be rare if local law enforcement, the prosecutor and government officials were ethical, moral and professional.

II. BACKROUND INFORMATION:

I read many of the briefs filed by the US Attorney’s Office in the Thompson case. I attended the trial and watched the testimony by SPD officers including Ofc. Moses and Ofc. McIntyre.  The demeanor and attitude of Moses under direct examination by DOJ’s criminal division trial attorney, Victor Boutros, was appalling and demonstrative of this attitude, culture and behavior that are prevalent - they are above the law.  

This culture is further evidenced by the now infamous salute of the SPD officers in the federal courtroom in front of the Zehm family.  I am a retired police detective with 35 years’ service and a former police union president.  I was shocked by this salute by so many SPD officers that included command rank officers.  Mayor Verner and Police Chief Kirkpatrick issued an apology to the Zehm family but said no disciplinary action was possible against these officers because this salute was protected free speech.  Who briefed the Chief and Mayor that this action was not subject to discipline under the SPD conduct policy?

I filed a complaint on this abhorrent behavior with SPD Police Ombudsman Tim Burns.  As a condition of their employment all officers must abide by the SPD conduct policy both on and off-duty regardless of free speech. Interim Chief Stephens replied in a letter that because these officers were off-duty, he could not discipline them. I replied to Chief Stephens disagreeing.  I have yet to receive a reply.  See my complaint, Chief Stephens’ response and my reply.

The Spokane City Attorney’s Office in the Zehm and many other police abuse and misconduct cases has gone beyond merely defending the City.  In my opinion the City Attorney’s Office has crossed the line into actually obstructing justice.  The City Attorney’s Office has interfered in cases that should have been criminally filed. Instead there is much effort to conceal the facts from public exposure to avoid civil liability and never a real search for the truth.
A policy of being open and honest would be cheaper in the long run for the taxpayers instead of attempting to deny and or covering them up.  Police work is a difficult job and mistakes will be made.  The best policy is to quickly recognize when mistakes are made, change police policy, procedure and training where appropriate to prevent mistakes from happening again. The actions of the City Attorney’s Office have been morally and ethically wrong. 
The Spokane County Prosecutor’s Office has turned a blind eye to police misconduct and abuse cases.  County Prosecutor Steve Tucker has failed in his obligation under the WA state law, RCW 9.94A.411 (b) Guidelines/Commentary, (i) Police Investigation, to ensure that complete and thorough criminal investigations are done by local law enforcement before rendering filing decisions. Mr. Tucker has abused his prosecutorial discretion.

How can there ever be sufficient evidence to charge when the law enforcement work product is poorly done? Mr. Tucker relies exclusively on police work product.  Mr. Tucker rarely asks for further information and or returns these investigations for further investigation. Consequently the professional bar in these OIS/OID investigations is set very low.  Is this by design, ineptness and or incompetence?

I obtained both the redacted criminal and IA investigation reports involving the alleged unlawful search of Victim Shirkey’s residence by Ofc. Edwards and others. This investigation was started by SPD Det. Lonnie Tofsrud that uncovered this alleged unlawful search by Ofc. Edward at Victim Shirkey’s residence.  SPD Det. Tofsrud’s criminal investigation was expanded to include Ofc. Edwards after a meeting by ranking officers of local law enforcement. This expanded investigation was headed by WSP Sgt. Ken Wade with Spokane SO Major Crimes Det. Lyle Johnston as the lead investigator. 

This investigative team concluded that there were no WA criminal law violations by Ofc. Edwards in this in an email to SPD Chief Kirkpatrick.  This conclusion was made after conferring with Spokane County Prosecutor’s Office Chief Deputy Jack Driscoll, DPA Tony Hazel and DPA Larry Steinmetz.  I am aware of other cases where I would question the motives and veracity of DPA Hazel, DPA Steinmetz as well as County Prosecutor Steve Tucker.

In my opinion there was strong probable cause to believe there were criminal violations of WA state law Officer Edwards  – a residential burglary (RCW 9A.52.025) and or a criminal trespass (RCW 9A.52.070).  While the crime of burglary generally requires entry with the intent to take property and or commit any other felony, RCW 9A.52.025 says, “. . . with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein, the person enters or remains unlawfully in a dwelling.”  There were property items taken from Victim Shirkey’s residence.  Because of Ofc. Edwards’s presence, active participation, and direct threats made to Victim Shirkey (Kick the door down if she failed to comply), this burglary and or unlawful search was done under the color of authority crime – violations of 18 U.S.C., Sections 241 and 242.
The investigative team clarified their conclusion was subject to change as accused parties are charged in court. The team’s consensus was, “… [They] didn’t find any applicable RCW violations, we are all in agreement that a potential federal violation exists for which we cannot make a referral. I am aware that both you an [sic] Sgt. Wade [WSP] had conversations with the FBI about this matter, so I would defer to their judgment on any federal code violations.”  See SO Det. Johnston’s email to Chief Kirkpatrick attached to my complaint.

The SPD then conducted its own IA investigation.  Once the SPD IA investigation was completed it was given to the Spokane FBI Resident Office for review.  Spokane Supervisory Senior Resident Agent Frank M. Harrill on behalf of Special Agent-in-Charge Laura M. Laughlin, FBI Seattle Division, wrote in a letter to SPD Chief Kirkpatrick,  “ . . . Based on this review and discussion, I have determined this matter does not warrant FBI investigation.” 

City Administrator Ted Danek found no criminal violation of Ofc. Edwards’s actions according to the media reports.  Ofc. Edwards was reinstated by Danek after being suspended without pay for 80 hours. Ofc. Edwards after returning to duty for less than three weeks was involved in another incident for which he was fired.  This incident involved accessing confidential law enforcement databases for personal purposes and lying to another officer to secure this information. 
III.  Alleged Violations of 18 USC 241 and 242:

Former SPD Ofc. Alan Edwards met with bond recovery agents near Victim Shirkey’s residence.  One of these agents was unlicensed. A subject was just previously detained by these agents for failure to comply with a bond release requirement.  While enroute to jail this subject requested these agents call Ofc. Edwards.   The subject was inferring was a police informant for Ofc. Edwards.

The bond agents and the subject then met with Ofc. Edwards who was on duty.  The subject told Ofc. Edwards he could help recover some stolen Escalade car rims from Victim Shirkey’s residence.  While in the presence of Ofc. Edwards based on the statements of the bond agents, and the subject; a plan was developed to use a ruse to create a false exigent circumstance to gain entry without a search warrant into Victim Shirkey’s residence.  This subject would go to Shirkey’s residence and try to get inside. The bond agents would arrive shortly afterward to search for this fugitive subject.  Ofc. Edwards would arrive and under the guise of assisting the bond agents to search for this fugitive.  Ofc. Edwards thereby would gain entry to the residence to search for the rims.

The plan was not executed as planned.  Victim Shirkey denied the subject entry.  The subject then hid in a window well to the rear of the Shirkey’s residence at the direction of one of the bond agents.  The bond agents and the subject then staged a disturbance with loud shouting.   A bond agent and Ofc. Edwards went to the front door and were banging alternately on the door for 15 minutes. The bond agent threatened to break down the door if Shirkey didn’t let them in.  Victim Shirkey let Ofc. Edwards and the others in to avoid damaging to her door.  

Ofc. Edwards was evasive and gave conflicting statements during the criminal and the subsequent SPD IA investigation.  Ofc. Edwards at first denied knowing anything about the ruse. Eventually Ofc. Edwards thought Victim Shirkey had given him consent to enter.  Ofc. Edwards claimed that a SPD Lieutenant was present when in fact this Lieutenant was never there as determined by the criminal investigation. The statements of the bond agents, the subject, the victim and an assisting SPD officer are consistent with Ofc. Edwards knowing that a ruse was being used to make an unlawful entry to search Victim Shirkey’s residence. Victim Shirkey said she thought this incident was staged. There are other witnesses that gave statements in the criminal investigation that support this was an unlawful entry.

No Washington state criminal charges were filed against Ofc. Edwards by the Spokane County Prosecutor’s Office.  The FBI Spokane Resident Office of the FBI was given the results of both the criminal and portions of the IA investigations.  After review of this information the FBI wrote in a letter to the Chief of SPD,  “. . . this matter did not warrant an FBI investigation.”

IV.  INVESTIGATIVE STRATEGIES AND QUESTIONS TO BE ANSWERED:

· Ofc. Edwards was a very experienced officer and should have known his actions as alleged were unlawful.  It’s clear that Ofc. Edwards was in close telephone contact with Eric Houchin, owner of All City Bail Bonds, who was present during the search of Victim Shirkey’s residence and Dennis Kariores. Kariores worked for Houchin. When SO Det. Johnston and SPD Det. Tofsrud first contacted Houchin this set off a series of telephone calls where both Kariores and Ofc. Edwards both called SPD Det. Tofsrud and wanted to make statements. Why wasn’t Ofc. Edwards summarily fired for this egregious violation?  On whose opinion did Mr. Danek rely in reinstating Ofc. Edwards?
· One of the potential witnesses in the Edwards case is Dennis Kariores, the unlicensed bond agent.  Kariores’ statements concerning this unlawful entry and search of course may be tainted and or suspect.  Kariores and other participant witnesses could potentially be charged as Ofc. Edwards for this unlawful search.  The victim of this unlawful search cooperated with the criminal investigation and gave a statement.  No doubt Victim Shirkey has her own issues of interest to law enforcement.  HOWEVER all of the witness statements are consistent with a preconceived plan to carry out an unlawful search in violation of the 4th Amendment. 

· Kariores was subsequently charged with multiple felonies under WA state law stemming from other incidents involving unlawful arrests, kidnapping and unlawful searches.  Kariores was arrested in Florida for UFAP by the US Marshal’s Office and returned to Spokane (Spokane Co Jail Booking No. 1200012593 in Spokane Superior Court Case No. 11-1-02721-1). Kariores’s bail has since been reduced and he was released from custody.  His criminal trial is pending.  Kariores and the other participant witnesses could be charge with 18 U.S.C., Sec 241 and 242 and then used to testify against Ofc. Edwards. 
· I have read the criminal complaint in the current state case against Kariores.  Kariores was not charged with the incident at the Shirkey residence.   Even if Kariores was charged under state law, Kariores could be possibly charged with Sections 241 and 242 federally without a double jeopardy issue arising.  All witnesses gave voluntary statement during the course of the criminal investigation.  Ofc. Edwards did give a voluntary statement to the criminal investigators.  Ofc. Edwards also gave a compelled statement to the IA investigators.  There is no bar to using compelled statements in an IA investigation in a later federal action.
· The Edwards case has all the ear markings of a CI going rogue – Kariores.  Did Kariores compromise and or taint any other cases that resulted in convictions? If it is true that Ofc. Edwards did engage in an unlawful search and lie about his involvement, what cases may have Ofc. Edwards compromised and or tainted?  Are there any other cases where unlawful searches were done using this same ruse? Are these convictions so tainted by Ofc. Edwards that they aren’t salvageable by inevitable discovery arguments?

· The investigation reports reveal many serious issues where there is strong motivation by local law enforcement including federal LE agencies to cover-up the Edwards case.  Ofc. Edwards previously worked in the Spokane Regional Gang Task Force comprised of both the SPD, SO and federal law enforcement agencies. Several administrative subpoenas were issued in the IA investigation for cell phone records of phones that belonged to the FBI.  Ofc. Edwards was able to obtained $300.00 from three separate confidential informant funds to pay Kariores for a drug arrest.  From the statements of the law enforcement supervisors of these units in the IA report, the supervision and control of these CI funds leaves much to be desired.
· On 08-24-10 both Ofc. Edwards and Kariores were again involved in a search for a wanted subject at the Apple Tree Motel that may be questionable.  Kariores was there to apprehend a fugitive and the police were there to assist.  After entry was made and the fugitive was arrested, Ofc. Edwards wrote and served a search warrant to continue searching motel room for drugs based on a search incident to the arrest (Spokane County District Court 10-28122).  A large quantity of illegal drugs was seized.  Because quantity of drugs seized, this case was taken federally via the ATF.  The defendant, David B. Hill, was convicted and sentenced to 15 years.  Federal Court Case 2:10-cr-00127-FVS appears to be the controlling case in the disposition of a number of Hill’s cases.
SPD Ofc. Wheeler confirmed during the criminal investigation what Ofc. Edwards said how entry was initially made into this motel room.  Supposedly another subject in the room opened the door and the wanted subject was seen sitting on the bed.  The wanted subject was ordered out and was taken into custody at the doorway.  This search has all the earmarks of the previous questionable searches by Kariores. The underlying informant listed as a reliable source in Ofc. Edwards’s search warrant affidavit was Kariores.  It was Kariores that Ofc. Edwards later paid $300 from the CI funds.  I would argue that Kariores is hardly a reliable source.  Ofc. Edwards did not disclose that Kariores was a paid confidential informant in his search warrant affidavit. Was the initial entry and or door opening that discovered the drugs also a staged ruse like Victim’s Shirkey residence?  Did Ofc. Edwards make material omissions from his search warrant affidavit sufficient to quash this search warrant?

· What was known at the time Hill was interviewed with his counsel during the criminal investigation by SO Det. Johnston?  Were appropriate disclosures made to Hill’s counsel concerning potential veracity issues involving Ofc. Edwards?  I have not included this search at the Apple Tree Motel in my complaint but it warrants a fresh look as to the initial apprehension of Hill and Brady issues involving the veracity of Ofc. Edwards (Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).
· Some of the same persons that the DOJ encountered in the Zehm case appear to be obstructing justice in the Edwards case.  Was this to avoid opening Pandora’s Box by not charging and or immediately firing Ofc. Edwards by law enforcement officials, the City Attorney’s Office, the County Prosecutor’s Office and the Office of the Mayor?  The criminal and IA investigations were at least competent in the Edwards case but the decision makers in my opinion failed to take the appropriate action e.g., charge and or immediately fire Ofc. Edwards for these flagrant violations.

· At the time the Edwards case was given to the FBI, the US DOJ Civil Rights Division was well into the Thompson criminal case and knew of the extensive cover-up and violent abuse of power that was concealed by high ranking LE officials and City officials. This ruse in the Edwards case was a flagrant violation of the 4th Amendment and chargeable under 18 U.S.C., Sec 241 and 242 as federal felonies.  It greatly surprises me that the FBI turned down the Edwards case for further investigation.  Why?
· The Edwards case goes hand in hand with the Thompson case.  They are both indicative of the local pattern and practice of covering up police misconduct and abuse without a real effort to search for the truth.   The Edwards case may give the DOJ more leverage to root out this systemic corruption. The Spokane law enforcement agencies, the County Prosecutor’s Office and the local political system are so dysfunctional, they are incapable of bringing those who are complicit and or obstructed justice to justice in these and other cases of police misconduct and abuse.
V. REQUESTED ACTION:
I trust the DOJ will not be content with the low hanging fruit in the Thompson case, but will continue to thoroughly investigate and charge any and all who were complicit and or aided in the Zehm cover-up of serious police misconduct and abuse for obstruction of justice.  
Organized crime can’t exist without corrupt law enforcement and a criminal justice system. 

I request that the US Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division, Criminal Section immediately act to undertake a fresh review and investigation of the facts and circumstances as detailed in the attached Criminal Complaint against SPD Officer Alan Edwards et al for Official Misconduct (18 U.S.C. § 241, 18 U.S.C. § 242).  

This review must be done by an outside investigation team not involving the local FBI resident office and without involvement of US Attorney Michael Ormsby with the exception of the current local and DC trial team in the Ofc. Thompson case.  

While this Hallmark Hall of Fame made for TV movie does take some dramatic license with the portrayal of this event, The Battle for Athens, TN (1946), it does demonstrate what could happened when local, state and the federal appointed and or elected officials fail to act and or violate their oaths of office to WE THE PEOPLE who empower them to govern.

We are a nation, . . . “ of laws, not of men” (John Adams)
Sincerely,

Ronald J. Wright

*Note: This letter contains HTML links to references/sources.  A copy of this letter with active HTML links is included on the attached CD ROM Disk.
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